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The following is a list of responses to questions submitted by prospective respondents to the ESD Request for 
Proposals for Media Sales Full-Motion LED Video Displays.  A copy of the RFP is available at:   

https://esd.ny.gov/doing-business-ny/requests-proposals/digital-signage-rfp 
 

Media Sales Full-Motion LED Video Displays RFP - Responses to Questions 
 

No. Question Answer 

1 

There is mention of Phase 2 at Moynihan 
Hall in the request. Is this contract 
request strictly for the signage at the 
West End Concourse? Or is it intended to 
be used for possible future digital 
signage on Phase 2 of Moynihan Hall? 

This RFP is specifically for the existing 
inventory in place to be monetized by a 
media sales firm for a short term period. 

2 

On page 4 of the RFP in "The Network" 
items E, F  list out 2 Static Locations 
however their placements are listed as 
TBD.  Should we consider these when 
submitting our financial proposal? Will 
they definitely be included in the signage 
plan?   Will they be located in highly 
visible high traffic areas? 

The locations for the static dominations are 
to be agreed upon by ESD and media sales 
firms in the North and South Entry off of 8th 
Avenue. These dominations should be 
considered when submitting financial 
projections. The overall size and location has 
yet been defined. The entry points are highly 
trafficked and the intent is to allow a brand 
to dominate these entry points to the facility 
through oversized graphics along the 
stairwell wall(s) and other visible locations 
in the entry hall. 

3 

On page 4 of the RFP in "The Network" 
item G is labeled as a "West End 
Concourse Domination." Should we 
consider these when submitting our 
financial proposal?  The term Domination 
has many meanings, can you please 
clarify how these static signs would be 
considered a domination?  

The West End Concourse Static Domination 
should be considered when submitting 
financial projections, but included as 
optional items. These locations are at the top 
of stairs to the train platforms and the intent 
is for all 12 locations be sold to a single 
advertiser.  

https://esd.ny.gov/doing-business-ny/requests-proposals/digital-signage-rfp


 

 

No. Question Answer 

4 

Does ownership care how long our 
advertising spots are within the 2:30 
content loop? 

So long as the overall content loop duration 
is followed, and the percentage of time 
retained by ESD is unimpacted media sales 
firm may established alternate spot lengths 
within its allotment of time.  

5 

Can we do a mix of different lengths of 
spots in the loop? 

Yes so long as the overall content loop length 
is followed and occurs within the media sales 
firm’s allotment of time.  

6 

Can you provide the capabilities of the 
CMS regarding playback, day part, social 
media tie in, interactivity? 

The CMS in use is the ANC LiveSync system, 
which has the capability to run live data 
streams, live video, social media, and any 
library content. Content can be programmed 
dynamically and remotely and synchronized 
with lighting or other media. The system 
supports a wide variety of high resolution 
content formats.  

7 

Is Alcohol allowed to be advertised? Alcohol is one of the prohibited categories 
that may not be advertised. 

8 

Does Ownership need to approve all ads 
and content before they run?   If so what 
is this approval process?  

For digital advertisements, Ownership will 
not need to approve all advertisements 
before they run—the advertising 
concessionaire and Ownership consultants 
facilitating content scheduling will be 
expected to review and enforce the 
established standards and restrictions. 
However, Ownership reserves the right to 
enforce the restricted items list and to reject 
an advertisement at its discretion if 
Ownership interprets the ad to be violating 
the standards established. 
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9 

Besides media on the screens, would 
ownership allow for experiential or 
promotional revenue opportunities 
within the West End Concourse? 

The new Farley Entrances and the West End 
Concourse were constructed to relieve 
congestion, improve pedestrian flow, and 
provide an enhanced experience for Penn 
Station passengers. Respondents are 
welcome to propose a structure for 
consideration and valuation/compensation 
of limited one-off experiential opportunities 
for the Farley entries, plazas, and the 
Concourse, that are consistent with these 
goals. For example, sponsored art 
interventions, including but not limited to 
leveraging the programmable Skyscape LED 
light “fins,” may be considered. Given the 
extremely high passenger volumes at peak 
periods, no interventions will be considered 
that could impact pedestrian flow in these 
periods. 

10 

Please provide clarification on the 
criteria for evaluating creditworthiness 

Respondents must provide two years of 
audited financials to be evaluated to ensure 
the firm faces no major financial challenges. 
If the review team has any questions 
regarding sufficient creditworthiness, those 
questions will be presented to the firm for 
response. 

 


